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INITIAL DECISION
Before
Robert P. Meehan

Administrative Law Judge



This Initial Decision:  (a) confirms the oral ruling at the conclusion of the hearing (Tr. 41) granting Penelec’s motion to dismiss the complaints of those Complainants who did not appear at the hearing and prosecute their respective complaints; (b) dismisses, with prejudice, the formal complaints filed by those Complainants who did not appear at the hearing to prosecute their respective complaints; (c) sustains the formal complaints filed by Betty Lou Shoup, at Docket No. C‑2008‑2031300; and Janet E. Fochtman, at Docket No. C‑2008‑2035103, filed against Penelec; (d) prohibits Penelec from putting into effect its Tariff rules and regulations providing for the elimination of its Outdoor Lighting Service; and (e) directs Penelec to submit to the Commission a plan for replacing the existing outdoor mercury vapor lighting with outdoor lighting that is in compliance with existing Federal and State laws and regulations.
HISTORY OF THE PROCEEDING


The above-referenced 22 formal complaints, alleging reliability, safety and quality of service disputes were filed against Penelec between March 10, 2008, and May 30, 2008.  Penelec filed answers to each of the 22 complaints.  Because the complaints all raised the same or substantially similar issue, Penelec’s elimination of its outdoor lighting service, they were consolidated and the consolidated case was assigned to Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) Corbett and scheduled for initial hearing on September 15, 2008, in Pittsburgh.  Two letters informing all parties of the date, time and location of the hearing were mailed to all parties.  One was dated August 14, 2008, and the other dated September 4, 2008.  ALJ Corbett issued a Prehearing Order on August 14, 2008, and a Corrected Prehearing Order on September 4, 2008.  In addition, he granted the requests of two of the Complainants, Betty Lou Shoup and Janet E. Fochtman, to participate in the hearing and testify by telephone.


The hearing was held as scheduled.
  Betty Lou Shoup and Janet E. Fochtman each appeared by telephone.  They were not represented by an attorney.  They each testified in support of their respective complaints, and did not submit any exhibits.  Penelec, represented at the hearing by an attorney, presented the testimony of a single witness and submitted two exhibits, which were admitted.  None of the other Complainants appeared at the hearing.  Penelec moved for the dismissal of the complaints of those who did not appear at the hearing.  That motion was granted on-the-record.  The record, consisting of the 42-page transcript of the hearing of September 15, 2008, and the two exhibits, was closed by Interim Order issued November 17, 2008.
FINDINGS OF FACT


1.
Betty Lou Shoup, 3188 William Penn Avenue, Johnstown, PA, is a Complainant in this consolidated proceeding (Tr. 9).


2.
Janet E. Fochtman, 336 Adams Avenue, Mineral Point, PA, is a Complainant in this consolidated proceeding (Tr. 12).



3.
Penelec is the Respondent in this consolidated proceeding.



4.
Ms. Shoup has an outdoor light attached to one of Penelec’s poles in the back of her yard.  The light comes on at dusk and it lights her yard.  The pole is on a dead-end street.  This pole has a transformer attached to it and also supplies electricity to the houses (Tr. 10, 20).



5.
Where Ms. Shoup lives she has bears, deer, and skunks that roam.  She has a little dog that she walks in her yard and the outdoor light enables her to see if anything is in her yard before she goes out (Tr. 10).



6.
Ms. Shoup is 80 years old and handicapped and the outdoor light provides her with a measure of safety, because she can see if anything is in her yard at night (Tr. 10, 31).



7.
There are three homes that receive the benefit of the outdoor light on Penelec’s pole in the back of Ms. Shoup’s yard.  Neighborhood children coming home from school on the “activity bus” at 6:00 p.m. have the benefit of her outdoor light getting to their homes (Tr. 10, 11).



8.
Ms. Shoup pays Penelec for the outdoor light on the pole in the back of her yard (Tr. 10-11).



9.
Ms. Shoup’s monthly electric bill from Penelec includes the amount of $7.30 for the outdoor light, which has been in use since 1969 (Tr. 11).


10.
Ms. Fochtman has two outdoor lights in her yard since 1975 for which she pays Penelec between $9.00 and $10.00 per light per month (Tr. 12).


11.
The poles for the lights were installed by Ms. Fochtman’s husband and are not Penelec poles.  Penelec did, however, put the lights on the poles.  One of the lights is alongside her house, and the other is between her house and Adams Avenue (Tr. 12, 14, 19).



12.
Ms. Fochtman and her husband are both in their 70’s and disabled.  They are not able to climb the poles to replace the lights when they burn out.  In the past, she would inform Penelec that a bulb was burned out and Penelec would send someone who would go up in a “bucket” and replace the burned out bulb (Tr. 12, 17).


13.
One of Ms. Fochtman’s neighbors, 84-year old Mrs. Boring, woke up to find three men in her bedroom.  Mrs. Boring lives at the corner of Poplar and Adams Avenue and that event occurred just before the Township installed a light at that intersection (Tr. 12-13).



14.
In Ms. Fochtman’s community people are stealing and robbing, but that only seems to be happening where there are no outdoor lights.  She believes that her outdoor lights make her home safer and provide her with a sense of security (Tr. 13).


15.
Ms. Fochtman and her husband live in the country where it is very dark at night.  Without the outdoor lights she has now, Ms. Fochtman would feel unsafe going out her door or sitting watching TV knowing someone could just walk right in her door (Tr. 14).


16.
Penelec currently provides outdoor area lighting and street lighting services.  Street lighting service, which is installed by local municipalities and uses high pressure sodium vapor lights, will not be discontinued (Tr. 23-24).


17.
For residential customers, outdoor area lighting service is governed by Penelec’s Tariff No. 79, at pages 136-138 (Tr. 24; Penelec Ex. 2).  


18.
The provisions pertaining to street lighting are found at pages 126-127 of the same Tariff (Tr. 24).


19.
In April of 2006, Penelec filed Tariff changes with the Commission, pertaining to Penelec’s “rate transition plan.”  The plan included restricting outdoor area lighting to existing customers at existing locations, and the complete elimination of the service by June 10, 2012 (Tr. 24-25).


20.
Notice of the filing of the proposed Tariff changes was published in The Pennsylvania Bulletin on May 6, 2006.  That notice provided a 20-day period in which interested parties could intervene in the rate proceeding (Tr. 25).



21.
Penelec customers also received inserts with their April 2006 electric bill informing them of the tariff filing and also informing them how they could protest the rate increase (Tr. 25).


22.
Penelec also published notice of the proposed rate increase on April 11, 2006, in The Altoona Mirror, The Bradford Era, The Center Daily Times, The Erie Times News, The Meadville Tribune, The Oil City Derrick, and The Johnstown Tribune Democrat (Tr. 26, 39).


23.
In addition, the Commission issued a press release on June 5, 2006, with a schedule of the dates, times, and locations of public input hearings being held in Penelec’s service territory (Tr. 26).



24.
On January 11, 2007, the Commission issued its decision on Penelec’s rate transition plan, which included approval of the tariff changes, at Docket No. R-00061367 (Tr. 27; Penelec Ex. 1).


25.
Thereafter, Penelec submitted its compliance filing with the Commission.  In an Order entered April 13, 2007, the Commission approved Penelec’s compliance filings (Tr. 27; Penelec Ex. 1).



26.
On May 1, 2007, each Penelec Outdoor Lighting Service customer received specific notice of Penelec’s elimination of the service (Penelec Ex. 1).


27.
Penelec’s Ex. 2 are the tariff pages that were approved by the Commission on April 13, 2007 (Tr. 28).


28.
In addition to the complaints in this consolidated proceeding, Penelec received one other complaint involving the same tariff provisions in this case pertaining to the elimination of the outdoor lighting service.  The docket number for the other complaint is “C‑2007‑8144”
 (Tr. 28-29).


29.
Penelec’s witness, Roxane D. Hartman, an advanced business analyst in First Energy’s Pennsylvania Rate Department, was not familiar with the content of the April 2006 customer bill insert and was unable to respond to questions whether that bill insert informed the customers of the proposed elimination of the outdoor lighting (Tr. 31-32).


30.
According to Penelec’s witness Hartman, as long as the lights do not burn out, the outdoor area lighting will remain in effect through “June 30, 2012.”
  She could not respond to questions about whether the customers would be permitted to change the bulbs themselves (Tr. 34).


31.
Penelec witness Hartman did state that Penelec’s elimination of the outdoor lighting service is in response to the Energy Policy Act of 2005 which prohibits the manufacture or import of any mercury vapor bulbs, as of January 1, 2008.  According to Ms. Hartman, this prohibits Penelec from replacing a mercury vapor bulb (Tr. 34-35).

DISCUSSION
A.
The Motion to Dismiss


With the exception of Ms. Shoup and Ms. Fochtman, who had received permission to participate in the hearing by telephone, all other Complainants and the Respondent were to be in the hearing room, on the 11th Floor of the Pittsburgh State Office Building, at 10:00 a.m., on September 15, 2008.  When the hearing convened, John Sirko, Jr., Dorothy A. Ford, Janice Smith, David M. Hirko, St. John Vianney Catholic Church, Jackson Township Water Authority, Devon Saintz, Jackson Township, Douglas and Tamara Simmons, Harry Baker, Stephen E. Barr, Ronald R. Vargo, Warren W. Miller, Rodney Hagerich, Thomas G. Baker, John M. Ocipa, Mary Ann Johns, Robert and Anita Donahue, Harvey Holsopple, and Carl and Cindy Rummel were not present.  

ALJ Corbett in his Prehearing Order of August 14, 2008, had indicated that the hearing would be held on the 16th Floor of the State Office Building.  He corrected that with his Corrected Prehearing Order of September 4th, and informed the parties that the hearing would be held in an 11th Floor Hearing Room at the Pittsburgh State Office Building.  This information was also sent to the parties in the Commission’s letter of September 4th.  The Commission’s letters to the parties of August 14th and September 4th, ALJ Corbett’s Prehearing Order of August 14th, and the Corrected Prehearing Order of September 4th were mailed to each of the above-named Complainants at the addresses each provided on their respective formal complaint forms in the regular course of the Commission’s business.  These mailings have not been returned by the United States Post Office.  Accordingly it is presumed that each of them received both the Commission’s two letters scheduling the hearing and ALJ Corbett’s Prehearing Order and Corrected Prehearing Order.  Berkowitz v. Mayflower Securities, Inc., 317 A.2d 584 (Pa. 1974); Meierdierck v. Miller, 147 A.2d 406 (Pa. 1959); Judge v. Celina Mutual Ins. Co., 449 A.2d 658 (Pa. Super. Ct. 1982); Samaras v. Hartwick, 698 A.2d 71 (Pa. Super. Ct. 1997).
On September 15th, the Pittsburgh Office of Administrative Law Judge placed signs in the lobby of the Pittsburgh State Office Building and on the 16th Floor of the Building directing all parties to this case to the 11th Floor for the hearing.  This was done because of the earlier reference that the hearing would be held on the 16th Floor.  The only persons to arrive at the 11th Floor hearing room were I, the court reporter, and counsel and personnel for Penelec.

After the conclusion of the hearing with respect to the complaints filed by Ms. Shoup and Ms. Fochtman, I went to the 16th Floor of the Pittsburgh State Office Building to see if any of the other Complainants may have missed seeing the signs we had placed directing them to the 11th Floor and were waiting on the 16th Floor for the hearing.  Not one of the previously referenced Complainants was found on the 16th Floor.


Once timely notice of a hearing and the opportunity to be heard have been provided, it is then the responsibility of the parties to be present and participate in the hearing.  Craig Sentner v. Bell Telephone Co. Of Pennsylvania, Docket No. F-00161106, entered October 25, 1993.  The Commission has held that when a Complainant fails to be present at a scheduled hearing, then the complaint is to be dismissed, with prejudice.  Jefferson v. UGI Utilities, Inc., Docket No. Z-00269892, entered December 26, 1995, and Darling v. Philadelphia Electric Company, Docket No. F-00161139, entered November 16, 1993.  Dismissal with prejudice means that these Complainants may not file a future complaint raising the same issues that are contained in their present complaints.
B.
The Complaints of Ms. Shoup and Ms. Fochtman
Section 701 of the Public Utility Code (Code), 66 Pa. C.S. §701, provides that any person may complain, in writing, about any act or thing done or omitted to be done by a public utility in violation, or claimed violation, of any law which the Commission has the jurisdiction to administer, or of any regulation or order of the Commission.  Section 332(a) of the Code, 66 Pa. C.S. §332(a), provides that the party seeking affirmative relief from the Commission has the burden of proof.
In alleging reliability, safety and quality of service issues with respect to Penelec’s elimination of outdoor lighting service, and requesting that Penelec be prohibited from eliminating that service, it is clear that Ms. Shoup and Ms. Fochtman are the parties seeking affirmative relief from the Commission and, therefore, they have the burden of proof.  This means that they have the duty to establish a fact by a preponderance of the evidence, and must show that the utility is responsible or accountable for the problem described in the complaint.  Se-Ling Hosiery, Inc. v. Margulies, 364 Pa. 45, 70 A.2d 854 (1950); Feinstein v. Philadelphia Suburban Water Company, 50 PA PUC 300 (1976).  Additionally, care must be exercised to insure that the decision of the Commission is supported by substantial evidence in the record.  More is required than a mere trace of evidence or a suspicion of the existence of a fact sought to be established.  See, e.g., Section 704 of the Administrative Agency Law, 2 Pa. C.S. §704; Norfolk & Western Ry. Co. v. PA PUC, 489 Pa. 109, 413 A.2d 1037 (1980); Erie Resistor Corp. v. Unemployment Comp. Bd. of Review, 194 Pa. Superior Ct. 278, 166 A.2d 96 (1961); and Murphy v. Dept. of Public Welfare, White Haven Center, 480 A.2d 382 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1984).

Upon the presentation by a Complainant of evidence sufficient to initially satisfy the burden of proof, the burden of going forward with the evidence, sometimes called the burden of persuasion, to rebut the evidence of the customer shifts to the Respondent.  If the evidence presented by the Respondent is of co-equal value or “weight,” the burden of proof has not been satisfied.  The Complainant now has to provide some additional evidence to rebut that of the Respondent.  Morrissey v. PA Dept. of Highways, 424 Pa. 87, 225 A.2d 895 (1967), and Burleson v. Pa. P.U.C., 66 Pa. Commonwealth Ct. 282, 443 A.2d 1373 (1982), aff’d. 501 Pa. 443, 461 A.2d 1234 (1983).  For example, if one driver claims that an accident occurred on a dry road on a sunny day, and the other driver claims that the road was wet and it was raining at the time of the accident, neither driver has satisfied the burden of proof.  Additional evidence concerning the condition of the road and weather must now be provided by one or the other.

While the burden of persuasion may shift back and forth during a proceeding, the burden of proof never shifts.  The burden of proof always remains on the party seeking affirmative relief from the Commission.  Milkie v. PA PUC, 768 A.2d 1217 (Pa. Cmwlth. 2001); Waldron v. Philadelphia Electric Company, 54 PA PUC 98 (1980), and Replogle v. Philadelphia Electric Company, 54 PA PUC 528 (1980).


The allegations in Paragraph 5 of the complaint filed by Ms. Shoup, C-2008-2031300, and Paragraph 5 of the complaint filed by Ms. Fochtman, C-2008-2035103, are identical and read as follows:
I received a bill insert from Penelec stating that my outdoor lighting service will be removed by the year 2012.  I depend upon this lighting for security and safety and I wish to file an (sic) formal complaint to the PUC.  I personally am outraged that Penelec would discontinue my outdoor lighting that I have depended on for years.  In addition many outdoor lights in my community light up streets and roads as well as entrances to churches and schools.  I have paid a monthly bill on the lighting for this service and I see no good reason why Penelec would take out my light(s) that I have come to depend on over the years.  To pay for a pole and to have the outdoor lighting re-wired to my home because Penelec is taking this action could cost thousands of dollars and create an unnecessary hardship to me.  I am asking the PUC to intervene on my behalf so that this horrendous act is not carried out.


Ms. Shoup’s evidence in support of her complaint in this case is that:

· she has an outdoor light attached to one of Penelec’s poles in the back of her yard.  The light comes on at dusk and it lights her yard.  The pole is on a dead-end street.  This pole has a transformer attached to it and also supplies electricity to the houses (Tr. 10, 20);

· she lives in an area where bears, deer, and skunks roam.  She has a little dog that she walks in her yard and the outdoor light enables her to see if anything is in her yard before she goes out (Tr. 10);

· she is 80 years old and handicapped and the outdoor light provides her with a measure of safety, because she can see if anything is in her yard at night (Tr. 10, 31);

· there are three homes that receive the benefit of Ms. Shoup’s outdoor light on Penelec’s pole in the back of her yard.  Neighborhood children coming home from school on the “activity bus” at 6:00 p.m. have the benefit of her outdoor light getting to their homes (Tr. 10, 11);
· she pays Penelec for the outdoor light on the pole in the back of her yard (Tr. 10-11); and
· her monthly electric bill from Penelec includes $7.30 for the outdoor light, which has been in use since 1969 (Tr. 11).



The evidence presented by Ms. Fochtman in support of her complaint in this case is that:

· she has two outdoor lights in her yard, which have been there since 1975, and for which she pays Penelec between $9.00 and $10.00 per light per month (Tr. 12);
· the poles for the lights were installed by Ms. Fochtman’s husband with help from neighbors and are not Penelec poles.  Penelec did, however, put the lights on the poles.  One of the lights is alongside her house, and the other is between her house and Adams Avenue (Tr. 12, 14, 19);
· she and her husband are both in their 70’s and disabled.  They are not able to climb the poles to replace the lights when they burn out.  In the past, she would inform Penelec that a bulb was burned out and Penelec would send someone who would go up in a “bucket” and replace the burned out bulb (Tr. 12, 17);
· one of Ms. Fochtman’s neighbors, 84-year old Mrs. Boring, woke up to find three men in her bedroom.  Mrs. Boring lives at the corner of Poplar and Adams Avenue and that event occurred just before the Township installed a light at that intersection (Tr. 12-13);
· in Ms. Fochtman’s community people are stealing and robbing, but that only seems to be happening where there are no outdoor lights.  She believes that her outdoor lights make her home more safe and provide her with a sense of security (Tr. 13); and
· she and her husband live in the country where it is very dark at night.  Without the outdoor lights she has now, Ms. Fochtman would feel unsafe going out her door or sitting watching TV knowing someone could just walk right in her door (Tr. 14).



Penelec did not present any evidence to challenge or contest the evidence provided by Ms. Shoup and Ms. Fochtman.  Penelec’s evidence, presented by its witness Hartman is that:
· it currently provides both outdoor area lighting and street lighting services.  Street lighting service, which is installed by local municipalities and uses high pressure sodium vapor lights, will not be discontinued (Tr. 23-24);

· for residential customers, outdoor area lighting service is governed by Penelec’s Tariff No. 79, at pages 136-138 (Tr. 24; Penelec Ex. 2);

· the provisions pertaining to street lighting are found at pages 126-127 of the same Tariff (Tr. 24);

· in April of 2006, Penelec filed Tariff changes with the Commission, pertaining to Penelec’s “rate transition plan.”  The plan included restricting outdoor area lighting to existing customers at existing locations, and the complete elimination of the service by June 10, 2012 (Tr. 24-25);

· notice of the filing of the proposed Tariff changes was published in The Pennsylvania Bulletin on May 6, 2006.  That notice provided a 20-day period in which interested parties could intervene in the rate proceeding (Tr. 25);

· Penelec customers also received inserts with their April 2006 electric bill informing them of the tariff filing and also informing them how they could protest the rate increase (Tr. 25);
· Penelec also published notice of the proposed rate increase on April 11, 2006, in The Altoona Mirror, The Bradford Era, The Center Daily Times, The Erie Times News, The Meadville Tribune, The Oil City Derrick, and The Johnstown Tribune Democrat (Tr. 26, 39);
· the Commission issued a press release on June 5, 2006, with a schedule of the dates, times, and locations of public input hearings being held in Penelec’s service territory (Tr. 26);
· on January 11, 2007, the Commission issued its decision on Penelec’s rate transition plan, which included approval of the tariff changes, at Docket No. R-00061367 (Tr. 27; Penelec Ex. 1);
· thereafter, Penelec submitted its compliance filing with the Commission.  In an Order entered April 13, 2007, the Commission approved Penelec’s compliance filings (Tr. 27; Penelec Ex. 1);
· on May 1, 2007, each Penelec Outdoor Lighting Service customer received specific notice of Penelec’s elimination of the service (Penelec Ex. 1);
· Penelec’s Ex. 2 are copies of the tariff pages that were approved by the Commission on April 13, 2007 (Tr. 28);
· in addition to the complaints in this consolidated proceeding, Penelec received one other complaint involving the same tariff provisions in this case pertaining to the elimination of the outdoor lighting service.  The docket number for the other complaint is “C‑2007‑8144”
 (Tr. 28-29);
· Penelec’s witness was not familiar with the content of the April 2006 customer bill insert and was unable to respond to questions whether that bill insert informed the customers of the proposed elimination of the outdoor lighting (Tr. 31-32);
· as long as the lights do not burn out, the outdoor area lighting will remain in effect through “June 30, 2012.”  Penelec’s witness could not respond to questions about whether the customers would be permitted to change the bulbs themselves (Tr. 34); and
· Penelec’s elimination of the outdoor lighting service is in response to the Energy Policy Act of 2005 which prohibits the manufacture or import of any mercury vapor bulbs as of January 1, 2008.  According to Penelec’s witness Hartman, this prohibits Penelec from replacing a mercury vapor bulb (Tr. 34-35).



In Thomas J. Jarzab v. Pennsylvania Electric Company, Docket No. C-20078144, the customer filed a formal complaint against Penelec’s elimination of the outdoor lighting service.  In his Initial Decision in Jarzab the ALJ reviewed, among other matters, the notices provided by Penelec to its customers in connection with its 2006 rate case at Docket No. R‑00061367 by means of bill inserts and newspaper publication, the information provided by the Commission pertaining to the public input hearings in the rate case, and the Commission’s regulations pertaining to notices to be given to the public of rate changes in 52 Pa. Code §53.45.  Based on that review, the ALJ concluded that Jarzab’s due process rights to participate in the rate case had been adequately protected.  The ALJ in Jarzab also noted that Penelec’s tariff changes were approved by the Commission in its January 11, 2007 and April 13, 2007 Orders, and that Penelec was in compliance with the Public Utility Code because of the Commission-approved tariff.  In its Order in Jarzab, entered July 17, 2008, the Commission determined that the ALJ correctly concluded that Mr. Jarzab failed to carry the burden of proving that Penelec violated the Public Utility Code or the Commission’s regulations.


This case is different than Jarzab in that neither Ms. Shoup nor Ms. Fochtman alleged, either in their respective complaints or during their testimony, that they had not received notice of the proposed elimination of the outdoor lighting service during the pendency of Penelec’s rate case.  They did question Penelec’s witness Hartman about whether the bill insert notifying them of the rate case included information about the elimination of the outdoor lighting service and whether notice of the rate case was published in the Johnstown newspaper.  Ms. Hartman was able to confirm that notice of the rate case was published in Johnstown, but was unfamiliar with the content of the bill insert sent to the customers, and could not state what exactly was in that letter (Tr. 32-33, 39).


To the extent that this case may involve a claim by either Ms. Shoup or Ms. Fochtman that they were not properly notified, such an allegation must be rejected.  Consistent with the determination reached in Jarzab, the due process rights of Ms. Shoup and Ms. Fochtman to participate in Penelec’s 2006 rate case were fully protected.  This determination does not, however, preclude them from filing their respective complaints against approved tariff provisions pertaining to the elimination of outdoor lighting service.  However, there are certain legal principles that are applicable to proceedings challenging existing rates, rules and regulations in a utility’s tariff that are not applicable in proceedings pertaining to proposed rates, rules, regulations.


In those cases involving a public utility’s proposed changes to its tariff rates, rules, and regulations, the burden is on the public utility to prove that the proposed rates, rules and regulations are lawful, just and reasonable.  66 Pa. C.S. §315.  Where, as in this consolidated case, the complaints are filed against an existing, approved tariff rate, rule, or regulation, the burden is on the complaining parties, Ms. Shoup and Ms. Fochtman, to present evidence to prove that the tariff of Penelec pertaining to the elimination of the outdoor lighting service is unlawful, unjust, and unreasonable.  Public utility tariffs have the force and effect of law and are binding on the public utility and its customers.  Pennsylvania Electric Company v. Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission, 663 A.2d 281 (Pa. Cmwlth. Ct. 1995).  There is a strong presumption that utility rates approved by the Commission are just and reasonable.  Popowsky v. Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission, 669 A.2d 1029 (Pa. Cmwlth. Ct. 1995), appeal granted in part 680 A.2d 1165 (Pa. 1996), reversed in part 706 A.2d 1197 (Pa. 1997).
Section 1501 of the Code, 66 Pa. C.S. §1501, provides, in pertinent part:

Every public utility shall furnish and maintain adequate, efficient, safe, and reasonable service and facilities, and shall make all such repairs, changes, alterations, substitutions, extensions, and improvements in or to such service and facilities as shall be necessary or proper for the accommodation, convenience, and safety of its patrons, employees, and the public.  Such service also shall be reasonably continuous and without unreasonable interruptions or delay.  Such service and facilities shall be in conformity with the regulations and orders of the commission…


Based on the evidence they presented at the hearing, it is my opinion that Ms. Shoup and Ms. Fochtman have established a prima facie case that Penelec’s elimination of outdoor lighting service would be in violation of the above-quoted provisions of Section 1501 of the Code.  Penelec presented no evidence challenging or contesting the safety and security aspect of the outdoor lights on the property of Ms. Shoup or Ms. Fochtman.  It presented no evidence challenging or contesting that the outdoor light on Ms. Shoup’s property also provides safety and security lighting to three homes and for children arriving home from school on the evening “activity bus.”  One of the two outdoor lights on the property of Ms. Fochtman is between her house and the street.  Accordingly, it may reasonably be inferred that the public traveling on Adams Avenue, either on foot or in a motor vehicle, receive some illuminating benefit from at least one of the outdoor lights on her property.  No evidence to support a contrary inference was presented by Penelec.  Penelec presented no evidence challenging or contesting that of Ms. Shoup or Ms. Fochtman that they are paying for outdoor lighting which not only provides a benefit to them, but also to members of the public.


Aside from referencing the proceedings and notices in its 2006 rate proceeding, and the Commission’s decision in Jarzab, supra., the only other evidence offered by Penelec in this case pertaining to the elimination of the outdoor lighting service is that the Energy Policy Act of 2005 prohibits the manufacture or import of mercury vapor bulbs, effective as of January 1, 2008.  In light of this prohibition, Penelec is not allowed to replace a mercury vapor bulb (Tr. 34-35).


Penelec did not reference the particular section(s) of the Energy Policy Act on which it was relying for its evidence.  Research has found the following provisions in the United States Code and the Code of Federal Regulations pertaining to mercury vapor bulbs.  42 U.S.C. §6295(ee), provides that:
Mercury vapor lamp ballasts.  Mercury vapor lamp ballasts (other than specialty application mercury vapor lamp ballasts) shall not be manufactured or imported after January 1, 2008.

The regulations of the Department of Energy contain a similar provision.  10 C.F.R. §431.286 provides that:
Mercury vapor lamp ballasts shall not be manufactured or imported after January 1, 2008.



It is clear from these provisions that mercury vapor bulbs or lamps will not be imported or manufactured in this country after January 1, 2008.  It is not clear that Penelec would be prohibited by these provisions from replacing a burned out mercury vapor bulb with a mercury vapor bulb already in stock.  However, accepting Penelec’s evidence that it is not allowed to replace a mercury vapor bulb (Tr. 34), I have not found any provision in the Energy Policy Act or other Federal statute or regulation, and Penelec has not referenced any such provision mandating or requiring the elimination of outdoor lighting service, or prohibiting its continuation beyond June 10, 2012.  Similarly, I have not found any Federal statutory or regulatory provision which would prohibit Penelec from replacing the existing mercury vapor bulbs and fixtures with bulbs and fixtures which are not prohibited by Federal law or regulation.


Considering my review of the record in this proceeding, it is my opinion that the complaints of Ms. Shoup and Ms. Fochtman should be sustained.  Penelec should be prohibited from enforcing its tariff provisions eliminating outdoor lighting service, as currently found at 
pages 136-138 of its Tariff Electric-Pa. P.U.C. No. 79
 (Penelec Ex. 2).  Further, Penelec should be required to submit a plan for the replacement of mercury vapor bulbs and fixtures currently receiving service under Outdoor Lighting Service provisions of its Tariff with fixtures and bulbs which are permitted by Federal law or regulations to be used for outdoor lighting purposes, and that such plan should be submitted to the Commission’s Bureau of Conservation, Economics, and Energy Planning within 30 days of the date on which the Commission’s Order in this case is entered.
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW


1.
The parties to and subject matter of this reliability, safety, or quality of service complaint proceeding are properly before the Commission.



2.
The complaints of those Complainants who failed to appear at the September 15, 2008 hearing in this consolidated matter should be dismissed, with prejudice, for the failure to prosecute their complaints.


3.
Ms. Shoup and Ms. Fochtman, as the parties seeking affirmative relief from the Commission, have the burden of proof.



4.
Ms. Shoup and Ms. Fochtman presented sufficient evidence to satisfy the burden of establishing a prima facie case that Penelec’s elimination of the outdoor lighting service in accordance with its tariff would be a violation of Section 1501 of the Code, 66 Pa. C.S. §1501.


5.
Penelec did not present evidence of co-equal value or weight to rebut the prima facie case established by Ms. Shoup and Ms. Fochtman.



6.
Penelec’s tariff provisions for the elimination of outdoor lighting service, pages 136-138 of its Tariff Electric-Pa. P.U.C. No. 79, by June 10, 2012, are unjust and unreasonable and, therefore, unlawful, in violation of its duty under Section 1501 of the Code to provide, inter alia, adequate, safe, and reasonable service for the safety of its patrons and the public.


7.
Penelec should be prohibited from enforcing the provisions of Outdoor Lighting Service which eliminates Outdoor Lighting Service on June 10, 2012.



8.
Penelec should be required to submit a plan to the Commission’s Bureau of Conservation, Economics and Energy Planning for the replacement of all mercury vapor lights and fixtures currently receiving service under the Outdoor Lighting Service provisions of its Tariff, with lights and fixtures which are permitted by Federal law and regulations for outdoor lighting purposes, and that such a plan be submitted within 30 days of the date on which the Commission’s Order in this case is entered.

ORDER


THEREFORE,



IT IS ORDERED:



1.
That the hearing motion (Tr. 20, 41) of Pennsylvania Electric Company for the dismissal of the complaints of those who did not appear at the September 15, 2008, hearing in this consolidated proceeding is granted.


2.
That the complaints of John Sirko, Jr., at Docket No. C‑2008‑2032340; Dorothy A. Ford, at Docket No. C‑2008‑2032359; Janice Smith, at Docket No. C‑2008‑2032375; David M. Hirko, at Docket No. C‑2008‑2032402; St. John Vianney Catholic Church, at Docket No. C‑2008‑2032786; Jackson Township Water Authority, at Docket No. C‑2008‑2034113; Devon Saintz, at Docket No. C‑2008‑2034348; Jackson Township, at Docket No. C‑2008‑2035086; Douglas and Tamara Simmons, at Docket No. C‑2008‑2035213; Harry Baker, at Docket No. C‑2008‑2035264; Stephen E. Barr, at Docket No. C‑2008‑2040524; Ronald R. Vargo, at Docket No. C‑2008‑2040534; Warren W. Miller, at Docket No. C‑2008‑2040565; Rodney Hagerich, at Docket No. C‑2008‑2040594; Thomas G. Baker, at Docket No. C‑2008‑2040905; John M. Ocipa, at Docket No. C‑2008‑2043935; Mary Ann Johns, at Docket No. C‑2008‑2044886; Robert and Anita Donahue, at Docket No. C‑2008‑2045451; Harvey Holsopple, at Docket No. C‑2008‑2047240; and Carl and Cindy Rummel, at Docket No. C‑2008‑2051394, against Pennsylvania Electric Company, are dismissed, with prejudice, for their failure to appear at the September 15, 2008, hearing in this matter and prosecute their respective complaints.



3.
That the complaint of Betty Lou Shoup against Pennsylvania Electric Company, at Docket No. 2008-2031300, and the complaint of Janet E. Fochtman against Pennsylvania Electric Company, at Docket No. C-2008-2035103, are sustained.


4.
That the Pennsylvania Electric Company shall not enforce the provisions of its Outdoor Lighting Service, pages 136-138 of its Tariff Electric-Pa. P.U.C. No. 79, eliminating Outdoor Lighting Service on June 10, 2012, the same having been found to be unjust, unreasonable and, therefore, unlawful.


5.
That the Pennsylvania Electric Company shall, within 30 days of the date on which the Commission’s Order in this consolidated proceeding is entered or such additional time as may be allowed by the Commission, submit to the Commission’s Bureau of Conservation, Economics and Energy Planning a plan for the replacement of those mercury vapor bulbs currently receiving service under its Outdoor Lighting Service, with fixtures and bulbs which are permitted to be used for outdoor lighting purposes by Federal law and regulations.
Dated:  November 19, 2008



[image: image1.png]bert P. Meehan
Administrative Law Judge
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C-2008-2051394
� 	I presided at the hearing in place of ALJ Corbett, who was ill.


�  	The correct Docket Number for that case, Jarzab v. Pennsylvania Electric Company, is C�20078144.





�  	According to the Tariff, the date is June 10, 2012.


�  	A person identified as “Denny Platt” made an unsworn statement during the hearing (Tr. 35-36).  Mr. Platt was not a witness called by any party, and his connection, if any, to this case or any of the parties is unknown.  Accordingly, his statement cannot be considered as evidence to support a finding of fact or a conclusion of law, and is not being considered in this Decision.


� 	 The correct Docket Number for that case, Jarzab v. Pennsylvania Electric Company, is C�20078144.


�  	Pages 136-137 are the Outdoor Lighting Service Tariff provisions that specifically apply to Ms. Shoup and Ms. Fochtman, and which are to be eliminated on June 10, 2012.  Page 138 is the Outdoor Lighting Service provisions that are applicable to “Former Elkland Service Area Customers.”  For these customers, the Outdoor Lighting Service will be eliminated on December 31, 2010.  As Ms. Shoup and Ms. Fochtman are not affected by Tariff Page 138, Outdoor Lighting Service, Paragraph H, this Initial Decision is not applicable to that provision.
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